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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I would like

          3  to start the Consumer Affairs meeting, and at this

          4  time I would like to welcome the Commissioner.

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Thank you.

          6  Good afternoon, Chairwoman Koslowitz, members of the

          7  Committee. If you will forgive my sore throat and

          8  laryngitis on this day.

          9                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         10  brief you on the DCA portion of the '99 Mayor's MMR.

         11                 While the MMR is an effective way for

         12  the public to evaluate the way the government is

         13  functioning, we at the agency also use the MMR to

         14  evaluate and improve our own initiatives, programs

         15  and staff performance.

         16                 I am happy to tell you that we had a

         17  very productive Fiscal '99.

         18                 Beginning with our Enforcement

         19  Division, we in '99 conducted 103,100 inspections,

         20  an increase of 17 percent over Fiscal '98 and 22

         21  percent more than the Fiscal '99 plan of 84,500.

         22                 The increase was a result of the

         23  increased inspector productivity, as well as our

         24  comprehensive tobacco enforcement project which has

         25  a number of our inspectors working weekends and
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          2  evening hours and conducting extra inspections.

          3                 The increase in the number of

          4  inspections can be seen as well across virtually

          5  every inspection category. The number of inspections

          6  of licensed businesses, nearly 60,000, is an

          7  increase of 70,000 inspections compared to '98. The

          8  number of Weights and Measures and CPL inspections

          9  also was up by about 8,000.

         10                 Not only were there more inspections,

         11  but I believe that our inspections were more

         12  effective because of our continuing efforts to focus

         13  resources on high complaint areas, such as fruit and

         14  vegetable stands, parking lots and second-hand

         15  dealers. As a result, the number of violations

         16  issued by the agency rose by 50 percent, from 36,841

         17  in '98 to 55,411 in '99. Again, the increase was

         18  across the Board, 82 percent increase in license law

         19  violations, ten percent weights and measures, 21

         20  percent consumer protection law.

         21                 The increasing and continuing problem

         22  of Home Improvement contractors who destroy homes

         23  and disappear with consumer deposits, is a good

         24  example of how we are focusing on high complaint

         25  categories.
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          2                 Back in February, we put together an

          3  HIC task force of lawyers and inspectors, that task

          4  force targets unlicensed HICs who have been the

          5  subject of a large number of complaints.

          6                 Since we put this group together, we

          7  have seized 53 vehicles from unlicensed contractors.

          8  Before their vehicles were returned, the contractors

          9  obtained their acquired licenses and paid a total of

         10  86,220 in fines, 46,000 plus in consumer restitution

         11  and 14,000 in reimbursement to the Home Improvement

         12  contract or trust fund, that is for monies that were

         13  previously paid out by the trust fund is to people

         14  who had their licenses revoked, leaving consumers

         15  out of pocket and consumers have received

         16  compensation from that trust fund.

         17                 Those seizures allowed us to

         18  reimburse the fund to have money available for

         19  future consumers who might be in that same

         20  situation.

         21                 The productivity increases I noted

         22  were accomplished as we are continuing to administer

         23  the nation's largest anti-tobacco sale to minor

         24  inspection program in the country.

         25                 Between April '98 and September of
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          2  this year, we conducted 12,747 inspections with our

          3  undercover minors.

          4                 As we have talked about earlier,

          5  violations have been issued during 33 percent of

          6  those inspections for a total of 4,510 violations

          7  and more than a million dollars in fines issued.

          8                 We look forward to continuing to work

          9  with the Committee on the tobacco legislation that

         10  we have been spending a great deal of time on, so we

         11  can, during our next MMR, point to I hope a decrease

         12  in those inspections and a decrease in the number of

         13  fines issued.

         14                 As a result of the violations, our

         15  Adjudication Division resolved 12,998 case in '99,

         16  from 9,324 in '98.

         17                 The percentage of hearings that

         18  resulted in guilty verdicts was 75 percent in Fiscal

         19  '99.

         20                 As I have noted earlier, we have been

         21  focusing a good deal of our enforcement on high

         22  complaint category areas where consumers make a

         23  significant number of complaints, where community

         24  boards contact us, where elected officials contact

         25  us.
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          2                 Most of those complaints come in

          3  through our Consumer Services Division.

          4                 The Division also answers inquiries

          5  from consumers who want information about a

          6  business, whether it has a license, whether it has

          7  received any complaints, specific information about

          8  the business, where they are located. This year we

          9  received close to 200,000 requests for information,

         10  an increase of more than 8,000.

         11                 While the number of requests for help

         12  from the Department has increased, our Consumer

         13  Services Division has continued to decrease the

         14  amount of time it takes to resolve a complaint.

         15  Through increased training and monitoring of the

         16  staff, the processing time for electronic stores and

         17  furniture stores has dropped by nine days and by 11

         18  days for parking lot complaints, to name just a few

         19  of those categories.

         20                 We have also seen a bit of an

         21  increase in the number of licenses issued at the

         22  Citywide licensing center to 86,272, despite the

         23  increase in the number of licenses, we assume the

         24  waiting time dropped for people who come into the

         25  center by almost four minutes to an average wait now
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          2  before one is attended by one of our staff to just

          3  over nine minutes.

          4                 Fiscal '99 was a year of tremendous

          5  improvement at the Department's web site. The entire

          6  site was redesigned and there is now a wealth of

          7  information on line, including all of our press

          8  releases, our reports, surveys, brochures, almost

          9  every one of the Department's license applications

         10  and the requirements for each license can be

         11  downloaded from the web site.

         12                 Business owners who don't know what

         13  documentation they need, can save not only a phone

         14  call or a letter, but can simply log on and get the

         15  information so that when they do come down to apply

         16  they have all of the information that they need.

         17                 Some of our licensees, as you know,

         18  are out of state, debt collectors, people who are

         19  operating in other areas, and for many of them it is

         20  a great convenience as well to be able to get the

         21  basic information they need without a long distance

         22  call, without having to send somebody down to the

         23  center.

         24                 As a result of the additional

         25  information on our sites, the number of people
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          2  visiting our site has increased by more than 200

          3  percent during Fiscal Year '99. During the month of

          4  June '98, 5,500 people visited our web site. In June

          5  of '99, that number was 17,705, and during many

          6  other months that number has increased to over

          7  20,000.

          8                 In addition to the routine

          9  inspections that are so central to the agency, we

         10  have been allocating increasing time and attention

         11  to some of the more indepth and complex issues

         12  affecting consumers.

         13                 In February, we released a 40-page

         14  report titled The High Cost of Dying: Rising Prices

         15  and Consumer Deception in the Funeral Industry.

         16                 One of the report's significant

         17  findings was one international funeral chain,

         18  Service Corp International, had acquired a near

         19  monopoly over portions of the New York City funeral

         20  market, that domination of the market was resulting

         21  in higher prices across the Board for consumers.

         22                 Just last month Attorney General

         23  Spitzer announced that based on our request and the

         24  documentation in our report, as a result of their

         25  own investigation, his office was filing and
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          2  settling an anti-trust action against Service Corp.

          3  The company will be selling three of its funeral

          4  homes in New York City and we are hoping that that

          5  will lead to greater competition and overall price

          6  decreases for consumers.

          7                 In addition, the Department

          8  promulgated a set of new funeral rules, the funeral

          9  industry has been litigating those rolls and so they

         10  have been extended until we get a court decision

         11  allowing us to proceed, but the main point of those

         12  rules is to provide consumers with the information

         13  they need.

         14                 A consumer shopping for a funeral is

         15  one of the most vulnerable, he or she is making a

         16  decision in a very limited period of time, nobody

         17  wants to negotiate or feel cheap about negotiating a

         18  funeral. Very few people call up three or four

         19  funeral homes and say give me a price, can you bury

         20  my mother for so much, I can get a better price

         21  elsewhere. We are uncomfortable doing so.

         22                 In reality when a funeral is the

         23  third most expensive purchase many people make in

         24  their lifetimes after a house and a car, we never go

         25  out and buy a house or a car on a day that we were
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          2  very aggravated, by just walking into the local used

          3  car dealer and saying, I need a new car, what is for

          4  me? Okay, I will take it. In fact, that is exactly

          5  what happens when so many of us deal with making

          6  funeral home plans and it is one of the reasons why

          7  consumers need a little bit of extra information

          8  when they make decisions about funeral homes. So,

          9  our rules would require funeral homes make their

         10  prices easily publicly available.

         11                 Right now every funeral home does

         12  need to disclose its prices, but that information is

         13  only given to a consumer after they sit down and as

         14  part of a conference ask for it. We would like that

         15  to be as available as information today, when you

         16  drive into a parking lot the rates need to be posted

         17  on the wall. Who owns the parking lot needs to be

         18  posted on the wall. But if I walk into a funeral

         19  home, you want something certainly more intimate

         20  than parking a car, I have no idea who I am doing

         21  business with, and I don't see any prices.

         22                 The industry has argued that putting

         23  prices in a publicly acceptable area of a funeral

         24  home will allow these prices to fall into the hands

         25  of their competitors. Of course if the prices are
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          2  going to be out, then the public is going to have

          3  easy access to it so they can shop around,

          4  competitors will also have access to it. When

          5  competitors have access, we will see price

          6  competition.

          7                 New York City probably has too many

          8  funeral homes. Usually when there are too many

          9  businesses in an industry we see price competition

         10  and we see fair prices. We have seen just the

         11  opposite here because of the difficulty in obtaining

         12  some of that basic information.

         13                 So, we hope that we will have a court

         14  decision there shortly, and be talking to your more

         15  about the issues facing consumers in the death care

         16  industry.

         17                 Last month we also spent a

         18  significant amount of time focusing on a number of

         19  used car dealerships that publicize auto auctions.

         20  What these dealerships do by running these auto

         21  auctions, which are non-government auctions, but are

         22  just a way to hype up sales of automobiles that

         23  consumers have no time to look at, no time to test

         24  drive. We found that three establishments were

         25  repeatedly selling defective and sometimes even
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          2  dangerous vehicles.

          3                 In fact, we went out and purchased a

          4  car ourselves, which one of our experts determined

          5  was a car with significant safety problems.

          6                 We were told of course we shouldn't

          7  worry because the car was going to pass state

          8  inspection. Well, we showed up, acquired the car,

          9  after paying for it the next day. It indeed had a

         10  brand new state inspection sticker on it. We then

         11  took it directly to the Department of Motor Vehicle

         12  where it failed both its safety inspection and

         13  emissions test. The question is, how did this car

         14  get a state inspection sticker on it.

         15                 Once we tapped into the State DMV

         16  computer, and ran their record of inspection, in

         17  fact the DMV had a record of this car being

         18  inspected as our inspector was standing there

         19  purchasing the car. And so the question that we

         20  raised and handed on to the Attorney General and the

         21  State Department of Motor Vehicles, if we have a

         22  system set up statewide that many consumers rely on,

         23  that if their car passes its inspection, it is safe

         24  to drive, and certainly statewide we all rely on the

         25  emissions inspection as proof that the car meets the
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          2  minimum standards to drive on the road, clearly some

          3  of the inspectors have figured out a way some of the

          4  repair shops who have the State certification have

          5  figured out a way to beat the system. Here we have a

          6  car somehow being inspected as we were seeing it,

          7  yet the new State inspection requires a car up on a

          8  lift, it requires videotaping of the process, it is

          9  fairly elaborate and complicated process that the

         10  State put in effect to try to prevent these phony

         11  inspections. So we are hoping that we will see

         12  criminal charges against the folks who were involved

         13  in this specific episode, but it is something that

         14  we are highlighting because we are quite concerned.

         15  There are many who don't have mechanics available to

         16  them when they buy cars and rely on the promise that

         17  if it passes the state inspection, that it is at

         18  least safe to drive off the lot.

         19                 In fact, in many of the cases that we

         20  highlighted, cars literally caught on fire as they

         21  drove off the lot, people were in serious accidents

         22  on the way home from the dealership because of the

         23  dangerous condition of many of these automobiles.

         24                 We have license revocation actions

         25  against three of these places, one in Queens, Queens

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  Auto Mall, one in the Bronx and one in Brooklyn.

          3                 Finally, earlier this year we revoked

          4  the license of a Brooklyn electronics store, which

          5  was notorious citywide for running bait-n-switch ads

          6  for selling refurbished electronics as new. With the

          7  cooperation of experts from some of the national

          8  computer companies, we proved that the store, Palace

          9  Electronics on Coney Island Avenue in Brooklyn, was

         10  claiming its computers were Dell or IBM computers,

         11  when in fact only one component of the system was a

         12  Dell or IBM computer. Dell and IBM pointed out that

         13  the systems being sold could never have been sold

         14  for that price because they didn't even sell it to

         15  their retailers at that price.

         16                 In fact what happened is the store

         17  would take an element of an IBM or a Dell computer,

         18  the store wired together many other cheaper elements

         19  and promoted it as a brand name, IBM, Compac, or

         20  Dell computer. In fact what people were being sold

         21  was a collection of inferior items with one name

         22  brand item. The warranties, of course, would not

         23  have covered IBM or Dell or Compac, because the

         24  computers were all configured with other parts and

         25  in fact when consumers had problems, we took action.
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          2  We have just won a court decision affirming our

          3  action after the owners sued us to prevent our

          4  closure from taking effect and the store is now

          5  currently closed.

          6                 We are particularly concerned now

          7  during the holiday season, as many people are buying

          8  those electronics and so we are preparing as well a

          9  particular effort to warn consumers and announce an

         10  action very shortly against a number of other

         11  electronic stores that are selling refurbished items

         12  as new.

         13                 In all, Fiscal '99 was a productive

         14  year for the agency. We improved our service to

         15  consumers by increasing the number of inspections

         16  and decreasing the number of time taken to resolve

         17  complaints, while at the same time focusing on a

         18  number of special initiatives.

         19                 At the same time we continue to

         20  understand the need to assist businesses by reducing

         21  the number of days it takes for them to get a

         22  license, and making our services increasingly

         23  accessible by putting license applications on the

         24  Internet.

         25                 We expect very shortly to be
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          2  accepting credit cards as well to provide a

          3  convenience to many of the consumers who come in

          4  today and have to deal with money orders and the

          5  inconvenience of a payment.

          6                 Of course, as I said last year there

          7  is always need for improvement, and we continue to

          8  strive to make DCA a more efficient and effective

          9  agency throughout the year. We look forward to your

         10  input and suggestions as we proceed.

         11                 That concludes my prepared statement.

         12  I thank you for the chance to be with you today, and

         13  I would be happy to respond to your questions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 Before we continue, I would like to

         17  acknowledge my colleagues who have joined us today.

         18                 Council Member Spigner, Council

         19  Member Fiala, Council Member Robinson, Council

         20  Member Sabini, Council Member Henry and Council

         21  Member Watkins. And I am sorry, Council Member

         22  Lasher.

         23                 I just have to say to see that you

         24  have done all of these inspections, I think it is

         25  marvelous, since you have not gotten any more
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          2  inspectors for a very long time that all of these

          3  inspections are being done. It is really a very good

          4  thing. How do you account for that?

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, as you

          6  know, you have a couple of inspectors ready to be

          7  hired as soon as our tobacco legislation takes

          8  effect, so we expect to see two increasing at that

          9  time.

         10                 We also spent a great deal of time

         11  during the first phase of our tobacco enforcement as

         12  the result of a state grant that we received which

         13  allowed us to use our staff on Saturdays, Sundays,

         14  and in evenings working with the under-age minors

         15  and so forth. So a good portion of this increase was

         16  due to the unusual first time blitz that you saw as

         17  a result of the tobacco program.

         18                 But in addition, I have been taking a

         19  careful look at the way and what our inspectors do

         20  and how they allocate their time and we have been

         21  increasingly focusing on how we can have folks make

         22  a larger number of inspections in the course of the

         23  day, and frankly, there have been efficiencies that

         24  we have been able to eliminate.

         25                 A good example would be, we have been
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          2  trying to target areas where we do receive a great

          3  number of complaints. For instance, in the past

          4  parking lots might have been visited by an inspector

          5  who happened to pass the parking lot as he was

          6  surveying all of the businesses on a 20-block area.

          7  What we will do now is we will pick out 12 or 14 or

          8  15 parking lots that we have a significant number of

          9  complaints again, and then will route an inspector

         10  to all of those lots, thereby hitting more of our

         11  licensed businesses in the course of the same

         12  eight-hour time, as well as respond effectively to a

         13  hot spot.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: But isn't it

         15  true that you would need more inspectors, you know,

         16  as we pass legislation? Let's say, you know, very

         17  shortly we are going to pass the smoking

         18  legislation, and that is going to inquire a lot of

         19  inspections, and at the same time to keep up the

         20  inspections on everything else and, you know, you

         21  have here funeral homes and, you know, different --

         22  we have passed a lot of legislation.

         23                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: There are

         24  five staff in our budget that we have yet to hire,

         25  obviously because the legislation has been passed.
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          2  But we have currently in our budget $130,000 for

          3  five staff to deal specifically with the tobacco

          4  enforcement, so I think that as we take on

          5  significant new responsibilities, OMB and the Office

          6  of Operations are recognizing that and adding our

          7  staff to our budget. I expect as well in the

          8  November Plan we will be picking up additional legal

          9  staff, we have added two judges as a result of this

         10  tobacco grant. So, we have been able to grow, as

         11  some of our responsibilities have increased.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: On the

         13  headcount indicators for the various areas of the

         14  agency for Fiscal 1999 and Fiscal 2000 have been

         15  replaced with a not-applicable notation; why have

         16  these headcount targets been removed? And what does

         17  the not-applicable indicate?

         18                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I think that

         19  the breakdown has always been one that has been

         20  somewhat misleading in that there are individuals at

         21  the agency that are on specific lines, but who play

         22  different roles.

         23                 For instance, we have a number of

         24  inspectors who are assigned to legal. Where and how

         25  would one count them in a way that I think was
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          2  effective, I think the overall number of staff at

          3  the agency, more properly indicates who we are and

          4  what our numbers are. We have reported in the past a

          5  specific number of inspectors, for instance, but in

          6  reality we have for instance one inspector who

          7  doesn't work in enforcement. His role is consumer

          8  services, and what he does is whenever there is an

          9  HIC complaint and we need to send somebody out to

         10  assess the quality of the work as part of bringing

         11  the case against that home improvement contractor,

         12  his role is to actually go out, visit the premises

         13  with the consumer and with the contractor there to

         14  assess was the work done, how well was it done. He

         15  is an expert at inspecting quality of work.

         16                 He, in my mind, works in consumer

         17  services. He is technically an inspector. So, I

         18  think some of the categories with our agency have

         19  been somewhat artificial and so we thought this was

         20  a more effective way to generally indicate what we

         21  have in terms of staff.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: But how come

         23  there are no figures?

         24                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I think the

         25  figures are sometimes and somewhat an arbitrary
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          2  distinction in determining who was in each division,

          3  and I think now you have got a general sense of how

          4  many staff are at the agency. I think when we

          5  artificially determined this person is in

          6  enforcement because they were all on an inspector

          7  line, it may not have been giving an accurate number

          8  of how many individuals actually carry out a very

          9  specific task.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: It doesn't

         11  give us a general idea of who is where. It is hard

         12  for us to make heads or tails out of it.

         13                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, I can

         14  tell you that in terms of enforcement inspectors, we

         15  currently have 230 full-time employees. We have 80

         16  inspectors. We have five staff that we expect to

         17  hire as soon as the tobacco legislation passes, and

         18  we have --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: You lost an

         20  inspector?

         21                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: And then we

         22  have four inspector vacancies that we are in the

         23  midst of filling.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Did you lose

         25  an inspector? Because the number here is 81.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Currently.

          3  We currently as of today, we have one person, for

          4  instance, who just very recently resigned. So

          5  currently as of right now we have lost one. We have

          6  not lost them legally in the budget, we have lost

          7  them in that somebody just left, yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay.

          9                 And what was the actual number of

         10  full-time employees for adjudication for Fiscal Year

         11  1999?

         12                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I don't have

         13  the breakdown with me right now, I don't believe it

         14  has changed from this year to last year. I can get

         15  you that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Can we confirm

         17  that?

         18                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: What was the

         20  actual number of full-time employees for license

         21  issuance for Fiscal Year 1999?

         22                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I will

         23  provide you with the breakdown. We don't have with

         24  us right now a breakdown.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay.
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          2                 And what about consumer services --

          3                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I will be

          4  happy to give you those.

          5                 There weren't any changes from this

          6  year to last year, other than the addition of the

          7  judges as part of the tobacco grant. We didn't lose

          8  any staff. We picked up the judges that we talked

          9  about and then the tobacco heads that we are

         10  expecting to pick up.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, because

         12  it makes it easier for us to help you when we have

         13  all of this information.

         14                 Do you have a figure for overall

         15  average complaint processing time for Fiscal 1999? I

         16  think you said it in --

         17                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We break it

         18  down actually by each business category, because

         19  there are some business categories that should take

         20  a longer time than others. For instance, furniture

         21  stores, because by resolving it we are getting a

         22  commitment from the furniture store that they are

         23  going to reship an item or they are going to allow

         24  the consumer to send something back and they are

         25  going to resend it.
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          2                 And so what we do is we break down

          3  the category. I mean, I assume there is some general

          4  way to figure out an average, but I don't know what

          5  it would mean, because for some stores, you know, 30

          6  or 40 days is a terribly long period of time because

          7  of the nature of how quickly that kind of business

          8  should respond. A furniture store, for instance, in

          9  North Carolina that is shipping something to New

         10  York, we are going to naturally consider it an

         11  appropriate resolution even though it would take a

         12  longer of time.

         13                 So the way we handle tracking how

         14  well the mediators are doing and how well an

         15  industry is doing at resolving the complaints, is by

         16  breaking it to that industry. So, for instance,

         17  parking lots, our plan has targeted about 45 days to

         18  resolve a complaint. For Fiscal '99, we resolved

         19  parking lot complaints in 23 days. Furniture stores,

         20  as I noted, took longer, 33 days, electronic stores

         21  took 27, home contractors 30, unlicensed contractors

         22  23.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay.

         24                 But in the MMR, you have like parking

         25  lots, furniture stores, electronic stores, home
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          2  improvement contracts licensed and unlicensed; now,

          3  what about other complaints? How do we get an idea

          4  about other complaints that come in?

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: As you know,

          6  we license 70 or so different categories.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Right.

          8                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We have a

          9  target that we use for almost every one of those

         10  categories and that information is easily available.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay.

         12                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: What we have

         13  done to deal with some of the high complaint

         14  categories, as well as the categories that are of

         15  specific concern, is we have set these very specific

         16  guidelines and we have traditionally reported them,

         17  but we track the number of days that it takes every

         18  one of our mediators to handle the different

         19  categories of the complaints that they do, each with

         20  a different goal post in mind, depending on the

         21  nature of that business.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, but can

         23  we get some kind of an idea of, you know, what they

         24  are?

         25                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Sure.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: You know, the

          3  other complaints, even though they are not high

          4  numbers?

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Sure.

          6                 For instance, you know, there are

          7  many categories where we receive few with no

          8  complaints, so the bulk of the complaints comprise

          9  probably the top 20 or 30 different consumer-related

         10  categories. We don't receive a lot of complaints,

         11  for instance, against movie projectionists.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Why are the

         13  achievements, the levels of achievements in Fiscal

         14  1999, different from the projections from Fiscal

         15  2000? In 1999 it was over nine minutes, and why in

         16  Fiscal 2000 plan it is much higher at 15 minutes.

         17                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: My goal is

         18  to keep the number under 15, and that is the target

         19  that we have given our staff. Somebody shouldn't

         20  have to wait for more than 15 minutes before they

         21  are dealing with somebody resolving their issues.

         22                 It fluctuates to some degree with

         23  elements that we don't have a great deal of control

         24  over.

         25                 We have control over obviously the
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          2  number of staff that are available on our process,

          3  but I will give you an example, the tow industry is

          4  supposed to be renewing their licenses by January

          5  1st of this year, as you may know.

          6                 Three months in advance we send

          7  everybody in the industry all of the information

          8  needed, the request for updated fingerprinting that

          9  is needed, and we said, please come in in September

         10  and October and November. Come in in the beginning

         11  of December. They need photo IDs, their businesses

         12  need IDs, the individuals need IDs.

         13                 Of the several thousand licenses that

         14  we are going to need to issue, I think about 500

         15  have been issued to date. Because of the desire to

         16  part with the licensee fee at the last minute, as

         17  well as sometimes general procrastination, we will

         18  see over the next two or three weeks, during the

         19  beginning of the holiday season, several thousand

         20  tow truck operators showing up last minute.

         21                 The waiting time, as we warn them on

         22  the two days that 800 people show up at 9:00 a.m.,

         23  is unfortunately going to be substantial.

         24                 So, our goal is to try to keep that

         25  number under 15, we were fairly successful last
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          2  year, but in a year where we have a category that

          3  has a high number of renewals, that is naturally

          4  going to fluctuate. This past year we didn't have

          5  tow trucks, we had other categories that move more

          6  smoothly. So, I think next year, for instance, the

          7  January period will probably -- the end of December

          8  waiting time is going to be worse just because of

          9  this huge influx of tow drivers and next year's

         10  number may be higher than nine. My goal is to make

         11  sure that it is always under 15, and see what we can

         12  do to move more and more of the applications to the

         13  Internet, to kiosk, to methods where people don't

         14  need to physically come in, taking off a day of work

         15  or hours of work to see us.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: So, your goal

         17  last year was let's say 15 but you reached nine?

         18                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Came in at

         19  nine, because of some of the ways we have changed

         20  our cue.

         21                 If you recall, and I think you

         22  visited the center some time ago with me, we had two

         23  cues. We had a cue where you came in and quickly saw

         24  somebody who would quickly review your application

         25  and make sure you had everything you needed and then
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          2  would put you in our waiting area where you then

          3  waited for the next clerical employee to be

          4  available.

          5                 What ended up happening on busy days,

          6  is we had a line of people who may have had all of

          7  their information in place, were waiting on line

          8  before they could get a number to sit down, and so

          9  you waited twice. We have eliminated that and we now

         10  have just one cue and that is to help cut our

         11  waiting time.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: You have one

         13  person helping someone right through or they still

         14  have to go to another person?

         15                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We have two

         16  or three people who you will see at the front desk

         17  as you walk in. They will just do a very brief check

         18  to make sure, are you here for a renewal, do you

         19  have your forms, here is a number and then you can

         20  wait for your next clerical employee. Or to ask a

         21  question, many of the people who come into the

         22  licensing centers in fact should be going upstairs

         23  to Adjudication, perhaps they just want to ask a

         24  question and shouldn't have to stand on line, just

         25  for the courtesy of getting somebody to tell them,
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          2  you know, where to go.

          3                 So, we do have a quick information

          4  desk area, but we only have one area where you will

          5  have to wait and that cuts two or three minutes out

          6  of the waiting time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Once they get

          8  to that person they do everything, they follow

          9  through on everything, that when they walk out they

         10  have their license.

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Right. If

         12  indeed they are missing something, that they have

         13  got to go downstairs and get notarized or whatever

         14  the case is, they return directly to that clerk

         15  without having to wait on line.

         16                 So, that has been a little quicker.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Right. I hate

         18  when you have to, you know, go to five different

         19  people to get one thing.

         20                 Targets for certain indicators

         21  including those for home improvement contractors'

         22  inspections, citations and confiscation and tobacco

         23  violations and fines have been removed from the MMR,

         24  and replaced with a blank in the report. Why does

         25  the MMR exclude these areas from a Fiscal 2000
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          2  target indicator? Also, are they activities the

          3  agency does not anticipate performing in Fiscal

          4  2000?

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I think we

          6  are going to continue to see a changing mix of

          7  select enforcement initiatives. I think what our

          8  goal to be is to be ready to respond to areas where

          9  we are receiving the most complaints, referrals from

         10  elected officials, community boards, high volume

         11  complaints, and so our select enforcement

         12  initiatives should change flexibly as the agency's

         13  top priorities over the course of the year focused

         14  on other categories.

         15                 With regard to the violations and the

         16  revenue issue, I think you would probably agree,

         17  having a revenue target, a target of violation

         18  issued for the overall agency is appropriate. It

         19  gives a good sense of how much we are doing and how

         20  much work we are doing and year to year, although

         21  the universe changes, the overall number of

         22  violations would be somewhat steady or should

         23  increase.

         24                 When you break it down to specific

         25  business category, and our agency is told here is
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          2  the number of violations that you are going to be

          3  expected to issue to this specific business category

          4  or the number of dollars or fines for this business

          5  category, I think we come dangerously close to

          6  saying if you have a quota of these kinds of

          7  violations, now go out, whether or not that industry

          8  is deserving, and come back with enough violations

          9  against that specific number.

         10                 I think when you look at the overall

         11  agency, it is appropriate, it is not a quota, it is

         12  a fair way to recognize the overall volume of work

         13  we do.

         14                 But as we break it down for specific

         15  category, and let us say we should break it down by

         16  borough or by neighborhood, we have got to have ten

         17  home contractor complaints in each neighborhood, we

         18  end up edging a little bit more dangerously close to

         19  coming up with a quota, and I think we wanted to

         20  avoid that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Unlike other

         22  agencies.

         23                 DCA's is a revenue-generating agency,

         24  estimated to collect 14.3 million in Fiscal 2000.

         25  Why doesn't the MMR have indicators on revenues that
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          2  could link to the agency's budget?

          3                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Why doesn't

          4  the MMR have revenue indicators? I imagine that that

          5  is an Operations decision, that is probably more

          6  appropriate to have that information in a budget

          7  document, as opposed to an MMR performance document.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Would the

          9  agency consider including revenue indicators in the

         10  MMR?

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I, off of

         12  the top of my head in question, would be the MMR

         13  which tracks our performance, how much we do, how

         14  many inspections, what the results of those

         15  inspections is, it is probably a different document

         16  than a City budget document that makes assumptions

         17  for the City budget on the amount of dollars that

         18  will come from each agency. So, I don't know that

         19  tying the specific dollar amount into the MMR would

         20  be an appropriate combination.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: DCA's revenue

         22  budget is scheduled to increase by 2.7 million to

         23  14.3 million in Fiscal 2000. The category licenses

         24  permit privileges and franchises is 2.3 million of

         25  this increase. Yet, the MMR does not indicate any
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          2  significant increases in license issuance. What

          3  accounts for this significant increase in license

          4  revenue?

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The tobacco

          6  bill, which would result in the licensing of

          7  approximately 15,000 new businesses, which is a big

          8  increase. We currently license 43,830 businesses,

          9  the addition of a category of 15,000 licenses would

         10  result in about 1.2 million dollars in

         11  license-related revenue.

         12                 We also assume that our increasing

         13  the fine per merchant would result in higher

         14  revenue, and I also imagine that we would get a

         15  better collection rate than we currently do if we

         16  had a license revocation possibility tied in as

         17  opposed to currently where we just issue it a

         18  consumer protection law violation.

         19                 I also note that the overall increase

         20  in licensing revenue fluctuates year to year. A

         21  number of our licensees are all on one-year cycles,

         22  a number of other licensees are on two-year cycles,

         23  newsstands are on 16-month cycles, and so depending

         24  on the different dollar amount of each license

         25  category, and what year they happen to renew in, we
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          2  see some fluctuations. And so we do track it over

          3  kind of a four, five, six, seven-year period, but it

          4  is something that we have no performance control

          5  over.

          6                 Tow trucks, for instance, are going

          7  to be renewing in December, that is a fairly

          8  expensive license, $500 and then all of the drivers

          9  and the other employees, so we will have a large

         10  revenue influx coming in December, 1st of January,

         11  and so what year, what fiscal year that falls out,

         12  and so some of the fluctuation that you see year to

         13  year reflects actual initiatives, licensing

         14  revenues, new licenses and so forth, some of the

         15  fluctuation that you see year to year is somewhat

         16  beyond our control, depending on when the

         17  legislative time period renewal for that particular

         18  category falls.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Fines and

         20  forfeitures are estimated to increase by 591,000 in

         21  the Fiscal 2000 adopted budget, yet there is no

         22  indicator to correspond to this increase.

         23                 What fines are projected to account

         24  for this increase?

         25                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Tobacco is a
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          2  big chunk of it. In addition to tobacco, we will

          3  continue some of the high complaint area

          4  initiatives. We have had a particular initiative

          5  dealing with stoopline stands, quite a number of

          6  locations throughout the City where we have received

          7  repeated complaints and have actually been revoking

          8  and seizing stands and so forth, and that has been

          9  resulting in additional fines. We had a parking lot

         10  initiative against some of the parking lots that

         11  were repeat offenders. We expect by focusing of some

         12  of those high complaint areas, which also happen to

         13  be high fine areas, we will continue to see some

         14  increasing fine numbers.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: In fiscal

         16  1999, $115,905 was received by DCA as a state

         17  categorized grant. What was this grant money

         18  dedicated to, and is there any indicator in the MMR

         19  that tracks this activity?

         20                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We receive a

         21  tobacco grant of a little bit more than $800,000 and

         22  I believe happened to fall into, partly into the

         23  first fiscal year that you describe and partly into

         24  the following fiscal year. And so, that is the --

         25  that should be the funding that you are referring
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          2  to.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: And my last

          4  question, before I turn it over to my colleagues, in

          5  Fiscal 1999, charges for services exceeded adopted

          6  revenue budget by $426,477. This amount was not

          7  included in the budget in Fiscal 2000; what accounts

          8  for this being removed from the Fiscal 2000 budget?

          9  And was this a one-time charge; and if so, please

         10  describe.

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Did you

         12  refer to charges for services?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: That exceeded

         14  adopted revenue budget.

         15                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I am not

         16  quite sure which category of revenue that would be.

         17                 We don't do much charging for our

         18  services.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Charges for

         20  services.

         21                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I would be

         22  glad to take a look at the proposed budget and

         23  figure out which category that is and determine

         24  exactly what information you need there.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, you can
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          2  get back to us on that.

          3                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Maybe the

          4  staff can explain exactly what piece of information

          5  that is looking for.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, I have

          7  other questions I want to ask you on e.mail, but I

          8  am going to turn it over to my colleagues first, for

          9  them to ask you questions.

         10                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Certainly.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

         12  Sabini.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you,

         14  Madam Chair. You asked most of the questions that I

         15  had, but to follow up on one of them, Commissioner,

         16  you said that the reason that you don't list

         17  projections for Fiscal 2000 for inspections on

         18  things like home improvement contractors and

         19  stoopstands and the like is that you don't want to

         20  sort of edge into the quota area --

         21                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: No, on the

         22  revenue side or the violation side. On the revenue

         23  and -- the reason we don't want to estimate the

         24  specific number of stoopline stands violations

         25  issued, for instance, if you will note, in '98 we
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          2  issued 9,479 stoopline stands violations.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.

          4                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: In '99 the

          5  actual was 19,000.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But you

          7  eliminate the number of inspections projected.

          8                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The reason

          9  we eliminate the number of inspections projected for

         10  these select enforcement initiatives is, as we have

         11  seen over the course of this last year, for

         12  instance, we are going to continue to mix what our

         13  target will be.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I understand

         15  you testified to that, why then do you list how many

         16  public pay telephone inspections by fiscal year and

         17  by day?

         18                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Because that

         19  is something that we are mandated to do under an MOU

         20  with DoITT. It is not something that we have any --

         21  it is not something where I can sit back and say,

         22  you know what? Let's spend more time on X area. The

         23  pay phone inspections we are going to be doing are a

         24  specific number that we will do to support DoITT's

         25  needs in evaluating which phone companies under
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          2  their franchise agreement should and shouldn't. We

          3  are going to be doing a very specifically -- it will

          4  probably be somewhat less than the past, frankly,

          5  when it comes to pay phones, because what we have

          6  done in the past is simply survey the phones, by

          7  walking down the street and so forth.

          8                 What we are going to be doing now, it

          9  takes a little bit more time and effort, but I think

         10  it will get more useful to do it, is we are going to

         11  be surveying a certain percentage, probably ten

         12  percent of each companies' phones so that DoITT

         13  after a year or two will be able to say, Bell

         14  Atlantic, you know, you failed X percent of the

         15  inspections, we are not going to renew your

         16  franchise, we are going to renew somebody else's and

         17  so forth.

         18                 So, in areas where I think we can

         19  project, we will. HICs for instance, we are going to

         20  see a great deal of flexibility, depending on the

         21  kind of results that we get, if other problems come

         22  up I would like to try to target other areas as

         23  well.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So, it is all

         25  based on the MOU with DoITT on the franchise --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: For the

          3  payphones.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Now, when you

          5  list in the MMR about the padlock citations issued,

          6  and you project a number that -- well, actually in

          7  both the actual and the plan numbers are about ten

          8  times higher than the padlock closing, I am

          9  wondering how many are stipulated to, or what

         10  percentage are stipulated to, between the number of

         11  actual padlocking and padlock violations?

         12                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, in

         13  terms of businesses that are hit with a padlock

         14  citation because they are operating without a

         15  license, how many of them come in, settle, get a

         16  license. I think the proportion is reflected in the

         17  numbers here. There were 2,808 citations issued,

         18  there were 288 actual closings. The great majority

         19  of those folks, once they were hit with a citation

         20  for not having a license and threatened with closure

         21  very quickly came in, paid the fine, got a license

         22  if they could and continued doing business.

         23                 The 288 either were people who just

         24  refused, despite a number of violations to get into

         25  line, or in some cases were businesses that could
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          2  not because they were operating in an area where

          3  zoning didn't allow a cabaret in a location that --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: What about

          5  companies that disappear, in effect, they change

          6  names or make the efforts to padlock them harder to

          7  enforce?

          8                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: There is

          9  certainly a problem. Home contractors would be an

         10  area --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: About what

         12  percentage?

         13                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I don't know

         14  what percentage of the padlock citations. The

         15  majority would be home contractors, because they

         16  don't have a premises. Any of the other place that

         17  has a premises, they are either going to have their

         18  door locked. A small number do go out of business,

         19  ticket brokers, we don't license that many ticket

         20  brokers anymore, there are maybe 40 or 50 left. We

         21  might cite a ticket broker for operating illegally

         22  and then find out that he is vanished to New Jersey.

         23  The great majority would be home contractors.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         25                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We might see
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          2  an ad, we might get a complaint, we might cite the

          3  person, but never actually end up finding them to

          4  have something to padlock.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So you don't

          6  know what percentage.

          7                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I don't know

          8  what percentage that would be.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Is it a high

         10  percentage?

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: It is a high

         12  percentage with home contractors.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But in the

         14  2,700 abstract number?

         15                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Otherwise

         16  not.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         18                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Otherwise

         19  the vast majority, if somebody can legally get a

         20  license they have really got to be foolish to not

         21  come in and get the license if their business is

         22  going to be closed up.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you,

         24  Commissioner.

         25                 Thank you, Madam Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: We have also

          3  been joined by Council Member Freed.

          4                 Council Member Spigner.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Just a

          6  question as to your inspection force and its

          7  productivity, which has increased. Have you utilized

          8  the strategy that the Department of Building has

          9  used of increasing the number of hours of your

         10  inspection force, from 35 to 40 hours?

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: No, we

         12  haven't.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: You are aware

         14  of what the DOB has done in that regard?

         15                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I know they

         16  have had discussions with the unions there.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: They have

         18  implemented it, it is in practice now. But you don't

         19  have any inability to perform, as a matter of fact,

         20  you are exceeding the target as I understand.

         21                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I think

         22  right now we are meeting our targets.

         23                 One of the ways that we do want to

         24  get more inspection hours out of the inspectors, our

         25  inspectors are in the field four days and they spend
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          2  a day in the office testifying at hearings.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: DOB just was

          4  unable, in terms of elevators and other kinds of

          5  responsibilities to meet critical deadlines and

          6  response to request for service, you don't have that

          7  complaint?

          8                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We don't

          9  have that problem.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Okay. As it

         11  relates to your testimony on page two, the growing

         12  problems of home improvement contractors destroying

         13  homes, et cetera, et cetera; do you have any

         14  responsibility or involvement in areas like fraud,

         15  or so-called fraud, where people are encouraged to

         16  take on obligations beyond what their income enables

         17  them to cover? Do you have any responsibilities in

         18  those areas?

         19                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Yes and no.

         20  What we used to see was a person coming to us saying

         21  my house is destroyed, can you help me with the home

         22  contractor?

         23                 Today we have the same person coming

         24  to us, and in addition to saying, look, I spent all

         25  of this money and my home was destroyed, they say,
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          2  and by the way, my bank is foreclosing on me because

          3  of the loan that I took out to do this work.

          4                 So, we have for quite some time have

          5  been working with the State banking department and

          6  the Attorney General's Office. We don't have

          7  jurisdiction over the lender, over the banker, the

          8  mortgage broker, but we end up seeing them because

          9  many of these loans were generated by a home

         10  contractor who at the same time has a mortgage

         11  lender he works with or sometimes himself is

         12  licensed as a mortgage lender.  So, it is a problem

         13  that we don't have the legal jurisdiction to sue the

         14  mortgage broker or prevent the foreclosure by the

         15  bank, and what we try to do is reach out to the

         16  banking department or the Attorney General's Office

         17  so that as we try to deal with the unscrupulous

         18  contractor, they can try to prevent the foreclosure

         19  itself.

         20                 So, we serve on some of the Citywide

         21  foreclosure task forces, and have become very

         22  familiar with some of the worst lenders.

         23                 One of the areas where we have had

         24  jurisdiction is we have sued a company called Better

         25  Homes Depot, which buys dilapidated homes at
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          2  auction, reaches out to primarily low-income

          3  first-time home buyers in minority communities,

          4  immigrant communities, people who are dreaming of

          5  buying their first home. They then take a home which

          6  is in terrible shape, they issue a loan, or they

          7  work with a mortgage broker to issue a loan. They

          8  then finance all the work that needs to be done to

          9  make this place habitable. Now, they don't legally

         10  have to be licensed home contractors because this

         11  company is doing the work for you, they finance it

         12  at an outrageous mark-up and then they never do the

         13  work, or if they do the work, they don't get the

         14  appropriate buildings permits or electrical permits.

         15  Somebody moves into a home, they are now paying too

         16  much, the work that should have been done to make

         17  the house livable, the wiring has never been done,

         18  and they owe money on a mortgage at the same time,

         19  and the buildings and electrical and the other

         20  agencies are coming down hitting them with

         21  violations because their home isn't up to code.

         22                 We sued that company and we are in

         23  the middle of some litigation with them right now.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: So the answer

         25  is you try to be helpful, right?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We are very

          3  helpful when it comes to the contractor. We try to

          4  support the folks who have the legal jurisdiction

          5  when it comes to the predatory lenders, as we call

          6  them.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: As it relates

          8  to inspections, in particular, a parochial concern,

          9  in my community a gas station that I use, or

         10  previously used prior to seeing their picture in the

         11  paper putting a padlock on the -- what do you call

         12  it? The pump, putting it on the pump. Now, this

         13  station is back in business. Is it a fair

         14  assumption, or can I confidently assume the fact

         15  that this station is back in business, that they

         16  have satisfied all of the charges and all of the

         17  objections and citations that you issued on it when

         18  you closed it? Can I use that station in confidence?

         19                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, let me

         20  check and see what happened.

         21                 Two things may have happened: The

         22  station may have gone out of business. Now, when I

         23  say going out of business, I mean that you saw it go

         24  out of business, they may have legally gone out of

         25  business, sold the location to some successor
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          2  company, it now is out there operating hopefully

          3  honestly, but operating with a new record that we

          4  wouldn't be able to hold the previous violations

          5  against.

          6                 He could have -- I don't know if that

          7  happened. Or he could have paid the violations,

          8  signed an order that he was going to live honestly

          9  and properly, paid the appropriate fees, and

         10  hopefully is continuing in business in a proper way.

         11  So, we visit every one of those stations over the

         12  course of the year, but I will check and see what

         13  happened when we last visited this one.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Now, the

         15  story that I got when I inquired from whoever was in

         16  charge that night, it was that the delivery truck

         17  put regular gas in the high test tank. Anyway, it is

         18  a likely story and kept moving. Thank you.

         19                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, he

         20  certainly could show up at a hearing to try to

         21  defend himself, and he had been successful in

         22  convincing one of our administrative law judges,

         23  then he would be let off the hook.

         24                 Unfortunately that is an excuse we

         25  hear all too often, and in fact the retailer is the
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          2  one who is responsible for making sure that he is

          3  selling the product that he is claiming to sell.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Thank you.

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Certainly.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Thank you for

          7  that quick response to that sidewalk matter that I

          8  brought to your attention.

          9                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Our

         10  pleasure.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

         12  Robinson.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you

         14  very much, Chairwoman Koslowitz and good afternoon,

         15  Commissioner and staff, and I certainly want to

         16  thank you for forwarding the material to me that you

         17  had promised at the last hearing that we had, it was

         18  very helpful to me.

         19                 I want to ask a question in regards

         20  to the information that we have received in terms of

         21  -- what is the average time to expedite complaints

         22  by tourists?

         23                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We usually

         24  don't break down the complaint by whether the person

         25  visiting is a tourist. I think I would have a hard
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          2  time deciding who exactly would be a tourist. For

          3  instance, we will get complaints about parking,

          4  sometimes it will be a Manhattan resident, sometimes

          5  it will be somebody from Brooklyn coming in to a

          6  Broadway show who is unhappy about the experience

          7  they had parking. Sometimes it will be somebody from

          8  Long Island. Sometimes I will get it from e.mail

          9  from Japan, because somebody who was here had a bad

         10  experience.

         11                 So, we don't, we treat each complaint

         12  as a valid complaint. We don't determine who they

         13  are.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Well, the

         15  reason why I raise that, because usually when people

         16  are here visiting in the City of New York they have

         17  certain time constraints and usually if there is an

         18  unjustice that they feel has been done to them, then

         19  they would want to have that reconciled, and that is

         20  a concern because it was not expressed in the MMR in

         21  terms of the time that is used to resolve a

         22  complaint for a person.

         23                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We have had

         24  some recent cases where people walked into the

         25  agency because of a problem they had, for instance,
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          2  at an electronic store or somebody wouldn't return

          3  the item. We actually would go out with them back to

          4  the store immediately, certainly if it was a serious

          5  complaint.

          6                 For instance, in this case, if I

          7  recall, we had mediated the complaint. The business

          8  owner promised us that he would make the refund.

          9  When the person went back, he was shoved, he was

         10  insulted, he was yelled at. So, we said, you know

         11  what, why don't you pay another visit. We went out

         12  with him, with our camera and taped the store owner

         13  who had previously promised our mediator over the

         14  phone, oh, no problem, send him in, I will give him

         15  a refund. Yelling, shoving, threatening the tourist.

         16  We now had a fairly good case, and proceeded with a

         17  license revocation action against the store.

         18                 So, we recognize that for some people

         19  they are only here now and if we are going to

         20  resolve it, we need it.

         21                 The e.mail and the Internet, frankly,

         22  has been phenomenal in terms of tourists for us. A

         23  huge percentage of the complaints that we receive

         24  over e.mail are people who could not deal with it

         25  when they were here and then were surprised to learn
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          2  that they could electronically not just e.mail, they

          3  actually could file the complaint directly into our

          4  system by entering the information on line. So, that

          5  has been real helpful as well.

          6                 We have also developed relationships

          7  with many of the concierges and we put out a tourist

          8  tip card every year with our information that we

          9  give out to the concierges and many of the major

         10  hotels, as well as the embassies and the consulates.

         11  We distributed I think 30,000 to 40,000. American

         12  Express kindly prints and pays for those for us, and

         13  we get them out.

         14                 Last year at the end of the year we

         15  nominated ten consumer heros and zeros, five

         16  outstanding people or businesses, and five terrible.

         17                 One of our consumer heros, for

         18  instance, was the concierge at the Loew's Hotel who

         19  has developed a real constructive relationship with

         20  our Consumer Services Division. We have trained them

         21  how to spot complaints. They immediately call them

         22  in so that we can take action while the tourist is

         23  here.

         24                 Now, legally some of the businesses

         25  have time to respond. We can't always, obviously if
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          2  we can go in and spot something like this, but if

          3  somebody ordered something and it didn't show up,

          4  many of these businesses can't be forced the day we

          5  call to research it and respond. Sometimes the

          6  person does need to leave with us saying okay the

          7  person of this business has ten days to get back to

          8  us, we will be in contact with you.

          9                 We have a fairly large long distance

         10  phone bill, but I think it is worth it, and we spend

         11  a lot of postage because we end up corresponding

         12  with people around the world who have dealt with

         13  problems that they have had in New York.

         14                 So, I would like to anecdotally try

         15  to divide how many of our complaints are tourist

         16  complaints. But it is hard to tell, people will

         17  write in from abroad, but they are a student who is

         18  here. It can be hard to tell why they were in New

         19  York, were they here on business.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Well, what

         21  would you say would be -- you just indicated that

         22  you get many complaints through e.mail; on an

         23  average how many complaints would you say you have

         24  gotten within the last six months, e.mail complaints

         25  from people that came to visit New York City?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Just off the

          3  top of my head, I would say perhaps 25 or 30 percent

          4  of our e.mail correspondence is from people out of

          5  New York, whether they were here visiting a

          6  relative, whether they were abroad or one or

          7  another.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Let me ask

          9  you this one final question.

         10                 In regards to inspections, do you

         11  inspect nail salons? Because I know it is a Health

         12  Department issue, but what about, do you inspect or

         13  do you license nail salons?

         14                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We don't

         15  license nail salons.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Okay.

         17                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: But an

         18  inspector who would be doing a survey of a business

         19  strip would look at a nail salon to see whether

         20  there was a gender price posting issue, if there was

         21  a sign up that said male hands, female hands, or so

         22  forth.

         23                 Of course it would be legal for a

         24  nail salon to charge a man who has not routinely had

         25  a manicure or a pedicure more than a female who had
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          2  some history of manicures and pedicures because it

          3  is going to be a significantly greater effort to

          4  buff that guys' relative gruesome hands, versus

          5  somebody who has taken some care.

          6                 So, the actual charge there might

          7  legally be different. But a sign that just said

          8  man's manicure one price, women's another, would be

          9  discrimination one way or another. So, we would look

         10  at them -- or if there was an add that was very

         11  obviously deceptive or if somebody was shortchanged,

         12  but we wouldn't feel with the licensing issues, in

         13  terms of some of the concerns recently in terms of

         14  the chemicals that are being used that may be

         15  dangerous, that would be beyond I think our

         16  inspector's expertise in terms of evaluating what

         17  chemicals could be used, that would be either the

         18  City or the State, I believe State health license,

         19  if I am correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Okay, thank

         21  you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: They say that

         23  men's nails are harder to manicure. Their cuticles

         24  are much tougher than women's.

         25                 Council Member Freed.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you.

          3                 I had a question, because I remember

          4  a number of years ago we had, we were looking at

          5  licenses and either getting rid of licenses or

          6  making things easier, but dealing with tour guides.

          7  Do you have any control over tour buses?

          8                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Yes, we

          9  license them.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         11                 So, when we have the ongoing problems

         12  with them, as far as going through residential

         13  neighborhoods, as far as loud speaker systems at

         14  inappropriate times, things like that, are these

         15  things that we can complaint to you about?

         16                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Yes and no.

         17                 The areas that they are allowed to

         18  operate in are subject to DOT and PD. The areas

         19  where they can lay over are again violation of

         20  traffic and so forth rules.

         21                 Our license who deal with issues like

         22  the competence of the guide who needs to be

         23  licensed, the way the bus is being operated, we have

         24  a license action now against New York Apple Tours as

         25  a result of the guilty plea that they have entered
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          2  in Newark, accusing them of smuggling 50 buses into

          3  the country, claiming to the federal authorities

          4  that the buses were older than they were, when in

          5  fact they weren't that old, and indeed they

          6  therefore should have met federal emissions

          7  requirements, which they did not.

          8                 As a result of that action, it seemed

          9  clear that they had filed information with our

         10  agency which may have been false as well. And so we

         11  have begun a license action against that agency.

         12                 It is our intention to introduce

         13  evidence of many of the other misdeeds, because

         14  there is a fitness standard, obviously to hold the

         15  license, and we certainly can point to a history of

         16  violations of DOT rules and traffic tickets and so

         17  forth, as part of our argument to an ALJ that they

         18  are not fit to have a license.

         19                 So, we anticipate, although perhaps

         20  we couldn't legally bring a revocation action

         21  against them based on their traffic tickets, this

         22  particular company has a long history of violations

         23  from the Department, many of which contain

         24  commitments to live by safety and traffic rules,

         25  even though that wasn't the legal base that the
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          2  Department had.

          3                 So, we anticipate dealing with some

          4  of those issues during our enforcement action.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: And as far as

          6  things like loud speakers or mega phones?

          7                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: DEP in terms

          8  of --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: That is still

         10  DEP?

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: -- In terms

         12  of volume and so forth.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         14                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The license

         15  is primarily a consumer protection-related license.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, because

         17  of course downtown when JFK Junior died, we had

         18  buses roaming all over the place, and I can't

         19  imagine that any of these were in any sort of

         20  licensed route.

         21                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Again, the

         22  streets that are open to specific types of vehicles

         23  is something that the PD or DOT would cite them for,

         24  the appropriate traffic and safety type hazards. We

         25  wouldn't be able to cite that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

          3                 And then I was wondering how we are

          4  doing with supermarket checks and things like --

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I am glad

          6  you mentioned that, because at a previous hearing,

          7  when the luciferous critics of the agency's tobacco

          8  legislation is the person representing quite a

          9  number of supermarkets that have failed to either

         10  rectify the many violations that they have run up of

         11  consumer protection law and pricing, weights and

         12  measures violations, inaccurate scanners, many of

         13  those same supermarkets, primarily small mini

         14  chains, are among those who owe the agency literally

         15  hundreds of thousands of dollars, and so one of the

         16  things that we anticipate doing in the upcoming

         17  budget is adding a collections attorney to focus

         18  solely on litigation. It is usually not very

         19  effective, frankly for us to have to file where you

         20  don't have hearing authority over many of these

         21  violations, so we don't have a license to revoke. We

         22  can hold hearings on some of them and we need to

         23  file an action in court to collect other of these

         24  violations, we don't even have the ability to hold a

         25  hearing, so we actually have to file a court action
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          2  against the business for a $300 violation.

          3                 Frankly, some of the businesses have

          4  decided that they could and should just ignore the

          5  Department, as well as consumers who have just been

          6  complaining about the different consumer issues that

          7  are involved in those stores. So, we have a large

          8  chunk, say 50 or 100 supermarkets, some which have

          9  few locations, which now owe us a fair amount of

         10  money. Now in addition to the Department wanting to

         11  effectively collect its revenue, these stores have

         12  decided they don't need to rectify these violations

         13  because they are not going to pay them. So, we

         14  intend to take an increasingly aggressive term. We

         15  sued, if you recall last year, the Red Apple Group's

         16  loans because they owed us at the time the largest

         17  amount of money. They have since paid up. We just

         18  threatened Westin Beef with litigation, they just

         19  paid up. But, frankly, we have a large number and we

         20  are going to begin a general pattern of litigation

         21  against those businesses so that we send a serious

         22  message that consumers are frustrated when they walk

         23  into a store and there is not a price on an item,

         24  and when the scanner is wrong, or when the items are

         25  mismarked or promised as a pound and two pounds and
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          2  indeed there is significantly less in that item.

          3                 One of the other points that came up

          4  also at the hearing that I should mention, some of

          5  the representatives of business argued that at DCA's

          6  hearings rarely does anybody win, it has always been

          7  open and shut cases, kind of I think arguing that

          8  the judges aren't objective, or that the agency

          9  isn't objective and truly holding honest hearings.

         10                 Hearings that actually are held, 75

         11  percent of the time are decided in favor of the

         12  Department.

         13                 Twenty-five percent of the time

         14  indeed the business owner prevails by arguing that

         15  the inspection was conducted wrong, or prevailing by

         16  arguing that they are right and the Department is

         17  wrong, which I think is a reasonable amount of time

         18  and shows that there is a fairly honest and fair

         19  judicial process.

         20                 Many of course plead guilty. Many

         21  don't show up for a hearing and at the hearing

         22  decide against them, so on those, our actual

         23  enforcement record is better than 75 percent, but to

         24  the extent that people do show up for a hearing, one

         25  out of four do indeed prevail.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

          3                 Does that include, because I guess

          4  there was one point about certain supermarkets who

          5  were chains who were restamping or redating some of

          6  their produce and their meats?

          7                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We have

          8  jurisdiction over some of that. The Health

          9  Department has a piece off that. We have

         10  jurisdiction over certain items, but it is not

         11  something that we have been able to identify yet. I

         12  have seen the pieces that you refer to with meat and

         13  poultry being relabeled and it is something that we

         14  are going to be looking at as well in the upcoming

         15  months.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, and then

         17  lastly, I guess the question of delis.

         18                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Oh, I have

         19  been eating sea bass frankly, I like fish, and I

         20  read today's papers that --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I hope you have

         22  been checking to make sure that they weren't from

         23  under the George Washington Bridge.

         24                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: What does
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          2  happen to the -- well, of course is that you or is

          3  that Health or

          4  Ag and Markets?

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Either

          6  Health or Ag and Markets, or probably one of the

          7  federal, probably a lot of the agencies that are

          8  going to be thoroughly serious -- and frankly, I

          9  think the folks were arrested so I think there was a

         10  federal criminal action as well.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED I guess that

         12  goes back to the question about way back when when

         13  we were thinking of trying to put a lot of these

         14  agencies together and have sort of an omnibus

         15  agency, and we were trying to go around and find out

         16  things, some that are produce, some that are meats,

         17  some that are fish, any idea where we are in any of

         18  that?

         19                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, one of

         20  the pieces of the consolidation that is proceeding

         21  fairly rapidly is the consolidation of the different

         22  adjudication locations at one location so that

         23  businesses who have violations with fairly different

         24  agencies will be able to go to one location and so

         25  some of those locations are already being set up and
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          2  our judges have been spending time preparing to

          3  integrate. There hasn't been any movement that I am

          4  aware of on integrating different inspectors forces,

          5  I think some of the problems we would deal with, we

          6  have, for instance, as the consumer protection

          7  agency, specific state statutory authority to do

          8  certain kinds of inspections that nobody other than

          9  a consumer affairs inspector can do, and I think

         10  similarly as well, some of these issues carried out

         11  by the other agencies are not just the city, but

         12  deal with specific grants of state authority. Our

         13  weights and measures authority, for instance, is

         14  granted to us under this state. So that is something

         15  that isn't being looked at right now.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: And then of

         17  course in areas like Chinatown where everything

         18  overlaps and it is so frustrating to try and --

         19                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, the

         20  key of course is to put together, and we have been

         21  doing this somewhat regularly in groups together

         22  with business services. I do agree that it is not

         23  ideal, but on the other hand, I think it would be

         24  fairly difficult to have some of the -- our folks I

         25  think are sometimes generalists in that they need to
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          2  have a little bit of knowledge about a lot of

          3  different kinds of violations. But for instance,

          4  Health Department inspectors who have a specific

          5  level of training and ability to deal with some of

          6  the more complicated health educational-related

          7  issues in terms of temperatures of food products and

          8  some of the fairly arcane things. I can see it being

          9  difficult for one inspector to be an expert both on

         10  the minutia of the health code, as well as consumer,

         11  as well as traffic and safety and so forth. So, it

         12  is certainly something to consider, but it might be

         13  hard to have one individual. I think to the extent

         14  that there is an omnibus inspect, the Police

         15  Department has a broad amount of jurisdiction on a

         16  lot of these, and they certainly can do some of our

         17  vending work, they certainly do some of the traffic

         18  and safety work, and so that is some role that is

         19  played in that way.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Yes. Just one

         21  last comment, it is kind of funny, because I have

         22  the ongoing question about problems in Chinatown,

         23  and about a month ago I got a call from one of our

         24  former colleagues, now Congressman

         25  Weiner, trying to find out how we got things done
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          2  there, because he is   beginning to experience

          3  similar problems in other areas.

          4                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Well, I know

          5  in our MMR one of the reasons why you see this huge

          6  increase in the stoopline stand enforcement, in

          7  Fiscal '98 we issued a little bit under 9,500

          8  violations. There were 19,000 of those violations

          9  issues. As a result there have been quite a number

         10  of revocations and confiscations.

         11                 We are in the middle of signing now

         12  consent and judgment orders with 30 or 40 stoopline

         13  stands. These were stands that face revocation. What

         14  we are doing, not to give them another chance, but

         15  to have some leverage and try to guarantee future

         16  cooperation, we are revoking the license. I am

         17  putting a stay of enforcement subject to no further

         18  observation of unlicensed activity.

         19                 So, in the past what I would have to

         20  do is I would have to get a violation, get a guilty

         21  plea, and then take away the person's license after

         22  giving them another chance. So, they have another

         23  year to operate, outrageously, before we can do a

         24  confiscation.

         25                 What I am doing now is I am actually
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          2  revoking the license, and then as a policy matter

          3  staying the enforcement by telling the operator, you

          4  have lost your license, I am not going to carry out

          5  the revocation, if you promise to live within your

          6  space without cleaning your vegetables out on the

          7  street, without blocking the entire street, living

          8  by the appropriate rules, however, if we get a

          9  report, or we observe, we have revoked your license,

         10  and we are going to lift the stay and we are going

         11  to seize the fruits and vegetables and donate them

         12  to the closest homeless shelter.

         13                 So, I am hoping that that is

         14  effective. We will see. We have done it to about 30

         15  or 40, issuing, of course, an additional fine each

         16  time. I am hoping that that has sent enough of a

         17  message that we won't have any of these business

         18  owners showing up and saying, I am sorry, I didn't

         19  understand. I know you have been giving me

         20  violations for ten years and people have been

         21  complaining, but I just didn't understand what the

         22  rules were.

         23                 This time we have clearly laid out,

         24  you lost your license, you are only allowed to

         25  continue operating by the grace of this stay, which
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          2  we will lift when appropriate.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you. And

          4  I would be interested to see how that works.

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I am hoping

          6  it works.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: It sounds like

          8  an interesting approach.

          9                 Is it possible to get lists of those

         10  for our area?

         11                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Sure. I will

         12  give you a list of the -- I guess it is about 20 or

         13  30 that just recently lost and stayed. And frankly,

         14  if there are complaints about those, we would like

         15  to hear, because we will lift the stay on those.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Council Member

         19  Robinson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you

         21  very much.

         22                 Commissioner, you answered a question

         23  while you were talking to Council Member Freed in

         24  regards to what do you do after you get the fruits

         25  and vegetables and things like that, so you answered
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          2  that question.

          3                 But I wanted to know, in regards to,

          4  and I think you alluded to a collaboration in terms

          5  of perhaps development of a task force. The reason

          6  why I am raising the question, and this is a little

          7  off the MMR, Madam Chairperson, if I may?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Go right

          9  ahead.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you.

         11                 It has to do with those stores within

         12  the communities that hire immigrant workers and they

         13  pay them wages that are less than the minimum wage,

         14  and it seems as though they have a reign of terror

         15  that they put upon these people. And I want to know,

         16  number one, do you ever go into those stores to see

         17  who is working? Number one, whether or not they have

         18  the proper licenses?

         19                 The other thing that concerns me is

         20  that some of the stores will have, you go into the

         21  stores and they will have signs up that say no

         22  refund, exchange only, okay? And so those are a

         23  couple of questions I would like to get responses

         24  from you in regards to how they do that.

         25                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Let me start
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          2  with the refund question. Businesses are legally

          3  allowed to have whatever refund policy they please.

          4  If it is clearly posted.

          5                 If there is no sign posted, then you

          6  are entitled to return the item for up to 20 days.

          7                 However, a store can say final sale,

          8  no refund ever. They can say exchange only. They can

          9  say, as Circuit City, for instance, a very

         10  unfriendly consumer return policy, their policy is

         11  that if electronics, computer, or large TV, they

         12  have a 15 percent restocking fee. So if you buy it

         13  they will take it back, but if you open the box,

         14  even though it is otherwise brand new, they are

         15  going to charge you 15 percent. So, if you bought a

         16  $2,000 computer and it was an IBM and you wanted an

         17  Apple, or the TV was the wrong color or whatever it

         18  was, you are going to pay several hundred dollars

         19  for the courtesy of returning that.

         20                 So, when they came into New York we

         21  were not that pleased with that policy. Frankly,

         22  many New Yorkers were not aware, they didn't very

         23  clearly disclose the policy, this was during last

         24  year's holiday season, frankly, shortly after I was

         25  just appointed. We went out and we saw that they
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          2  didn't really have signs very clearly disclosing. We

          3  argued that they now had to return the 15 percent to

          4  everybody they had hit with that fee, several

          5  thousand people in the New York area. Circuit City

          6  was fairly new to New York, they didn't know our

          7  rules.

          8                 They said, no, no, no, look at the

          9  receipts. Every one of the receipts we issue says 15

         10  percent restocking fee. See, so the people knew. And

         11  we pointed out of course that you don't get a

         12  receipt until after the transaction. People should

         13  know either as they walk into the store, or

         14  somewhere visible from each reservoir, what the

         15  return policy is, because it is a basic element. I

         16  mean, the price is one element, but the return

         17  policy, if you are spending a lot of money, that is

         18  a big part of the deal and you might not want to

         19  shop there if you knew they had a very unfriendly

         20  policy.

         21                 So, they are allowed to have that

         22  policy, we don't have any basis to change it, other

         23  than in areas where there is a warranty, a car where

         24  one could certainly return it if it doesn't live up

         25  to what it is warranted to do, number one.
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          2                 In regard to the staff at stores, the

          3  stores that need our licenses, newsstands or

          4  stoopline stands, fruit and vegetable stores with

          5  the stands out in front. We do check for a license,

          6  but the license that we are checking for is whether

          7  they have got the license to operate the stand,

          8  whether they have the new stand license. We don't --

          9  and don't have any legal basis to question the

         10  immigration status or any information or labor

         11  status of the employees, unless it is one of the

         12  employees who has to be licensed as well. For

         13  instance, a tow truck operator, not only does the

         14  two truck need a license, we want to know who the

         15  operator is, he has got to be fingerprinted, but an

         16  employee in a supermarket, we wouldn't have any

         17  legal basis to raise, it would be a matter of

         18  federal labor law or the state labor law, whether or

         19  not the person was being paid or could legally be

         20  working there, our inspectors wouldn't get an answer

         21  and wouldn't have a legal basis for asking.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I just want to

         24  ask, you mean like if you went into Circuit City and

         25  you bought something and they gave you the wrong
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          2  item and you went home and the only way you are

          3  going to know it is the wrong item is if you open

          4  it, they would still charge you the 15 percent?

          5                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: That is

          6  their policy and it is a very, very, very unfriendly

          7  policy.

          8                 We sued them over the policy, they

          9  paid $40,000 in fines, they now put up signs all

         10  over the place. We thought that they would drop the

         11  policy.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: What about if

         13  they make the mistake?

         14                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We would

         15  argue, if ti was a specific case where the person

         16  could prove that, wait a minute, here, I didn't buy

         17  this, you gave me something different, that that

         18  shouldn't be subject to the policy.

         19                 In addition, the item doesn't work.

         20  We have argued, and we have had a difficult time,

         21  but we have resolved a couple of cases with them,

         22  they sold the item, it didn't work. Now, the person

         23  isn't refunding it because they want to give it

         24  back, they are refunding it because it doesn't work.

         25  It doesn't live up to what you warranted that it
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          2  does. So, we make the point that that shouldn't be

          3  subject to their return policy.

          4                 Frankly, any return policy shouldn't

          5  be involved when in fact what you are doing is you

          6  are saying wait a minute, what you are selling me

          7  isn't what it is or it isn't living up to the

          8  warranty that it does what you said it does.

          9                 But unfortunately they have been

         10  fairly aggressive.

         11                 One of the other areas where we have

         12  some real problems with them and some other

         13  electronics chains, you have been seeing these ads

         14  for free computers or $400 off. What actually

         15  happens in these cases is, if you sign up for three

         16  years worth of Internet service at a somewhat

         17  inflated price and you pay for the three years of

         18  service up front, you are now paying $700 for three

         19  years of 20 some odd dollar Compuserve, you now can

         20  have a $400 reduction off that Internet service. But

         21  what the ad argues is that you are saving $400 off

         22  the computer. It is deceptive. We cited quite a

         23  number of major New York area retailers for

         24  advertising that these computers were for free or

         25  for $400 off. Most changed their ads, some have not.
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          2  Circuit City has yet to. We are talking to

          3  Compuserve and we are hoping we will have everybody

          4  in line because it truly is deceptive.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: That is very

          6  interesting. I didn't like it to begin with when I

          7  bought my computer, so I didn't do it.

          8                 I just want to ask you about your

          9  e.mail, how you do your e.mail. Do you get a lot of

         10  e.mail? How do you respond? Do you respond by

         11  e.mail? Do you respond by writing, you know, getting

         12  addresses and writing?

         13                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Both. We

         14  respond to much of our e.mail by e.mail. For

         15  instance, any of the e.mail that comes in as e.mail

         16  to the Commissioner, which is one of the ways of our

         17  web site, that you can write to us, my secretary

         18  responds to e.mail.

         19                 There are another category of e.mail

         20  complaints that need some work before a quick

         21  response can be sent to them, and so those will go

         22  directly to the Consumer Services Division where

         23  they then maybe refer it to a lawyer who might have

         24  to do some work, request additional information, so

         25  we respond to a good portion of our e.mail instantly
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          2  on line, if it is not a complete answer it is at

          3  least that we got your message, our Legal Division

          4  is now reviewing it, you will be hearing from them.

          5  Sometimes we actually provide a quick answer.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: But you

          7  acknowledge each e.mail?

          8                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We

          9  acknowledge each e.mail and we respond to much of it

         10  on line, saving us some postage and paper, but then

         11  there is a portion of the e.mail that ends up being

         12  responded to on paper.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay.

         14                 Do you get a lot of e.mails? I mean,

         15  what is your average e.mail?

         16                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: I would have

         17  to check and give you an exact number. I see

         18  personally --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I know I get a

         20  lot of e.mail so you must get a lot more.

         21                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We get a

         22  large amount.

         23                 I see all of the stuff that comes in

         24  as e.mail for the Commissioner, which a big chunk of

         25  it comes in because it is one of the ways you can
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          2  contact us on the web site. But we also get a lot of

          3  complaints, directly e.mailed into our system,

          4  because you can actually file a complaint on line.

          5                 So, I would be able to give you a

          6  number, for instance, of not only how many e.mails,

          7  for instance, my office gets, but how many

          8  complaints we get e.mailed directly into our system.

          9  Our complaint form is actually on line and so you

         10  can actually put in the name of the business that

         11  did whatever it did, exactly what happened, the

         12  details. You could e.mail us a complaint form which

         13  shows up electronically, so I don't know off-hand

         14  the number of those we get, but it is a substantial

         15  amount.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Do you see the

         17  future in that, putting the forms on, making it for

         18  on line, making it easier for people so they don't

         19  have to come and get an application?

         20                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: The

         21  complaint form itself is already on line. It doesn't

         22  have to be printed out. You actually can e.mail the

         23  response.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Right.

         25                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Our license
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          2  applications are the next step. Our license

          3  applications are available on line so that you could

          4  print it and fill it out and come in. What we would

          5  like eventually is for you to be able to enter the

          6  licensing information directly into our system, and

          7  that is the next step.

          8                 The step after that, frankly, will be

          9  allowing our database to be searched externally and

         10  we are currently taking some estimates about the

         11  cost of what it would create if we were going to

         12  have a separate copy of the CAMIS system, searchable

         13  on line.

         14                 Obviously if people searched our

         15  database directly we would run the risk of somebody

         16  coming in and trashing the entire database or

         17  hackers or so forth, or what actually would have to

         18  happen is we would have to make a copy of the

         19  database that would be updated say daily which would

         20  be searchable on line. That is our next goal. So if

         21  you wanted information about a business, you

         22  actually could directly pipe in a search, get a list

         23  of every parking lot in Manhattan, get a list of the

         24  rates, get a list of the complaints against the

         25  specific business. Our next immediate on line goal
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          2  for the agency.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: How do you

          4  deal with signatures, let's say on an application,

          5  you know, whatever?

          6                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Currently we

          7  need to get a hard license application. We currently

          8  cannot accept a license application, whether it is a

          9  signature or any other information, directly on

         10  line. We take our complaints directly on line, but

         11  our licenses are on line but need to be downloaded

         12  and completed.

         13                 Our next step will be allowing those

         14  license applications to be completed directly on

         15  line.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:

         17  Electronically.

         18                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: Right.

         19                 So right now we need to see a paper

         20  and a signature.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: I think it is

         22  law now for electronic signature.

         23                 COMMISSIONER POLONETSKY: We don't

         24  have any legal objection to it now. We legally could

         25  accept a license application and a signature on
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          2  line, and that is our next technology challenge, to

          3  take the steps to be able to electronically accept

          4  those information.

          5                 It wouldn't work for all of our

          6  categories, because we need fingerprints for a

          7  certain number of categories. We need C of O's for a

          8  lot of them. So, it is not going to be something

          9  that solves all of the categories. But certainly

         10  renewals, frankly, the easy first step would be

         11  renewals where we already have this information, and

         12  all we are really getting from you is a signed

         13  location and a check, where we are being approved

         14  for credit card acceptance. So that is I think going

         15  to be the quick easy thing for us to be able to

         16  accept, just type in your renewal, type in the

         17  credit information and have your license generated

         18  to you.

         19                 So that is the easy stuff. The

         20  hardest stuff will be dealing with new applications

         21  where we actually need a greater amount of

         22  information that needs to be physically furnished.

         23                 But eventually, I think so.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: That is very

         25  good. Thank you.
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          2                 Thank you very much. This meeting is

          3  adjourned.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 2:35 p.m.)
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